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AMENDMENT 3 

Prospective Bidders: 

Please refer to our Invitation for Bid No. 017-2021 Indefinite Quantity Bid for Internet Access Devices “Providing Access to 
Homes” – PATH Program, a copy of which was obtained by your company for consideration.

Please see Attachment A – Summary of Pre-Bid Conference conducted on Friday, January 29, 2021. 

GDOE is hereby making the following change to the IFB: 

Section 6 – BID FORM 

Replace Bid Form in its entirety with Attachment B – AMENDED Bid Form. 

Please see below responses to questions submitted by Prospective Bidders: 

GTA 
1. Referencing 2.3.1.7.1 and 2.3.1.7.2, please advise whether the MiFi would be returned back to the vendor if services are 

disconnected? 
GDOE Response: No. 

2. Referencing 2.3.1.7.1 and 2.3.1.7.2, should the MiFi not be returned to the vendor who will be responsible for the device 
replacement and/or charges? 
GDOE Response: GDOE does not understand the question.  However, any device replacement due to damage or loss 
will be charged to the household.  But, GDOE reserves the right to address this on a case-by-case basis. 

3. Referencing 2.3.1.7.1 and 2.3.1.7.2, if the MiFi’s are to be returned back to the vendor, will the vendor be able to deploy 
the same MiFi to another student under the GDOE 017-2021 PATH Program? 
GDOE Response: No.  See Section 2.3.1.1. 

4. Referencing 2.3.1.7.1 and 2.3.1.7.2, please advise if there is a limitation for the date in which a MiFi can be disconnected 
for unreliable services. For example, if a student is issued a MiFi on March 1, 2021, can a student claim unreliable service 
4 weeks later or would they need have a 3 day period to advise GDOE and the vendor of unreliable services. 
GDOE Response: GDOE does not fully understand the question.  Please refer to Section 2.3.1.7. 

5. Referencing 2.3.2.3, please clarify what GDOE intends to do with the MiFi if the student moves school districts during the 
duration of the contract. For example, a student was attending school in March 2021 in the Northern region but relocates 
to another school during the SY22. 
GDOE Response: MiFi will follow the student/household. 

6. Referencing 2.3.2.3, please clarify what GDOE intends to do with the MiFi if the student moves school districts during the 
duration of the contract. For example, a student was attending middle school in SY21 and attends High School at another 
school in SY22 (possibly in the same district), will the student keep the original issued MiFi device? 
GDOE Response: MiFi will follow the student/household. 
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7. Referencing 2.3.3.1, please advise when award of services will be made? 
GDOE Response: Award will be made once the review and evaluation of all submissions are completed. This can range 
from two weeks to one month after bid submission and may be dependent on other unforeseen factors. 

8. Referencing 2.3.3.1, please advise if there is any cure period to perform in the event the awarded vendor does not have 
adequate inventory of MiFi devices. 
GDOE Response: Due to the urgent need, the quantity listed below must be activated within two (2) weeks.  

Region Quantity 

KATTAN 534 

HAYA 180 

LUCHAN 165 

LAGU 121 

The remaining minimum quantity orders shall be made available to GDOE for activation within 30 calendar days. 
Devices will only be considered an active account and billable upon an approved household's completed sign-up with 
vendor and NOT prior. Should delays occur during the term of the contract, a written request for extension must be 
provided with a justification. It is at GDOE's discretion to approve or deny the request. 

9. Referencing 2.3.3.1, in the event a cure period is provided, and the vendor is unable to perform, please advise if services 
will be awarded to the next qualified lowest bidder. 
GDOE Response: Should delays occur during the term of the contract, a written request for extension must be provided 
with a justification. It is at GDOE's discretion to approve or deny the request. If vendor ultimately is unable to perform, 
GDOE may, at it’s discretion, award to the second lowest bidder.  

10. Referencing 2.3.5.1, please confirm if vendor can block VPN access. 
GDOE Response: Yes. 

11. Referencing 2.3.6.2, please advise if the vendor can charge for a MiFi device requested or issued after SY21. Please advise 
if GDOE can amend the Bid Form to include pricing for MiFi’s for SY22 and any new activations as the term for services 
would be 6 months or less. Please advise if GDOE will be agreeable to a set price for any new activations requested after 
SY21. 
GDOE Response: No. 

12. Referencing 2.3.6.3 should the federal grant be extended, will GDOE continue to utilize the existing vendor for services 
or will GDOE need to resolicit services though another IFB? 
GDOE Response: Please refer to Section 3.2.4. Any services needed after the expiration will be solicited through a new 
IFB. 

13. Referencing 2.3.7.2 Please confirm whether the “customer” refers to GDOE or each individual student. 
GDOE Response: The customer is the parent/guardian of the household. 

14. Referencing 2.3.7.2, if the “customer” is identified as the student and does not want to pay for a replacement MiFi device, 
will GDOE be responsible for the replacement charges? 
GDOE Response: No.  But GDOE reserves the right to address this on a case-by-case basis. 

15. Please advise what is required for a bid to be considered responsive or complete. For example, should vendor be required 
to submit their company background and wireless qualifications, maps, service level agreements, response to the project 
description. 
GDOE Response: A bid is deemed responsive when it meets all material aspects of the IFB and the minimum 
specification requirements. No additional company information is required to be deemed responsive. However, 
additional information may be requested to determine responsibility as specified in Section 3.2.2 of the IFB. 
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16. Referencing 2.3.1.6, access must allow for a minimum of ten (10) devices to connect to the internet please clarify if these 
connected devices are GDOE approved devices or can the student/parent connect their personal WiFi capable devices? 
GDOE Response: Students may use GDOE approved devices OR personal devices to access the internet for educational 
purposes. 

17. Please advise if the MiFi’s will be property of the vendor during the contract term and if the MiFi devices will be returned 
back to the vendor at the end of the contract term. 
GDOE Response: No. 

18. Referencing 3.1.17, please confirm that the bid bond shall be based on the total price of all regions the vendor responds 
to. 
GDOE Response: Bid bond shall be 15% of the total bid price of all regions a Bidder bids on. Please refer to Section 
3.1.17 of the IFB. 

19. Referencing 3.2.4, please confirm if federal grant is extended beyond the 3 options months, will GDOE extend the services 
to the current vendor or will GDOE resolicit the services under a new IFB? 
GDOE Response: Please refer to Section 3.2.4. Any services needed after the expiration will be solicited through a new 
IFB. 

20. If no single vendor can provide the required services for GDOE of 7,300 MiFi devices and activations, would GDOE 
consider a Multiple award contract to all responsive wireless vendors under a predetermined or agreed upon price by all 
responsive bidders and GDOE. (For example, if one vendor was awarded all 4 regions and the vendor cannot deploy 7,300 
MiFi would GDOE award the contract to the next lowest bidder to supply the remaining services)? 
GDOE Response: Award will be based on the lowest, most responsive and responsible bidder for each region.  

21. Please advise what the process will be once the vendor is awarded services. 
GDOE Response: Generally, GDOE will provide vendor’s an approved listing to include PATH ID numbers. GDOE 
parents/guardians will provide PATH ID numbers at the vendor site to initiate and begin online access. GDOE is willing 
to work alongside vendors to improve this process. 

22. Referencing 2.3.10.1, should GDOE disconnect services, can the MiFi devices be reissued to another approved household 
under the PATH program. 
GDOE Response: No. 

23. Referencing 2.3.10.2, please advise if the MiFi will be provided back to the vendor. 
GDOE Response: No.  

24. Referencing 2.3.12.1, please clarify if reports will be based per subscriber or the total data used by all MiFi devices per 
region. 
GDOE Response: Both. 

25. Referencing 2.3.12.1, please clarify if the vendor will need to provide a report on the usage of the devices connected 
behind the mifi. 
GDOE Response: Upon request. 

26. Referencing 2.3.12.3, please clarify if this will be requested per subscribe? 
GDOE Response: Data per subscriber and per district as a whole may be requested. 

27. Referencing 2.3.12.3, please clarify if the report be provided on the total data the vendor has. 
GDOE Response: Data per subscriber and per district as a whole may be requested. 

28. Will a VPN (Virtual Private Network) be utilized on these MiFi's? Can the parent/student use the SIM Card in another 
device? Or is it only applicable to the MiFi? 
GDOE Response: No. VPN is not allowed. No. SIM cards must stay on device. 
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29. Please clarify if the services will be issued to students only, or will the faculty and staff of GDOE be able to avail of this 
program. 
GDOE Response: PATH program allows for a bulk-rate participant program which is defined as:  Students and educators 
that do not qualify for the income-based program to participate at the awarded price to be paid by the student or 
educator. 

30. Please confirm that only approved GDOE staff will be able to disconnect and terminate services. 
GDOE Response: Disconnection must come from authorized GDOE personnel. 

31. Referencing 2.3.11.5 please clarify what is a “bulk rate participant”? 
GDOE Response: PATH program allows for a bulk-rate participant program which is defined as:  Students and educators 
that do not qualify for the income-based program to participate at the awarded price to be paid by the student or 
educator. 

Pacific Data Systems 
32. Is CIPA Compliance required of the service provided to each household? 

GDOE Response: Yes. 

33. Are the numbers identified per region a firm commitment on the number of customers for that region? 
GDOE Response: Please refer to Attachment B – AMENDED Bid Form.  It is the minimum commitment.  Minimum 
quantities will be purchased and activated throughout the contract term. 

34. How will invoicing be handled? Can the service provider invoice all on the list or as activated? 
GDOE Response: As activated. 

35. How will GDOE deal with device account assignment in a household if students in that household are attending schools 
in different regions serviced by different carriers (e.g., Rios Middle is in Luchan. Southern High is in the Haya district)? 
Which carrier gets the account? 
GDOE Response: GDOE will assign internally.  Vendors will be informed of approved customers. 

36. Will GDOE provide an allowance/approval for educationally appropriate You Tube sites, videos? 
GDOE Response: No. 

37. If a household/student transfers between regions that are being serviced by different carriers, will the account be 
transferred to the new region? 
GDOE Response: MiFi will follow the student/household. 

38. What is the documentation/data GDOE will provide to carriers proving unreliable access to a household that warrants a 
disconnection of service to that household? 
GDOE Response: GENERAL PROCESS: Customer has issue - call vendor Help Desk. Vendor Help Desk should address 
issues. Vendor Help Desk assigns ticket number to customer and record on shared data spreadsheet. All following 
requests should be documented by vendor Help Desk. 

39. What is the documentation/data GDOE will provide to the regional carrier proving unreliable access that will warrant a 
termination of award? 
GDOE Response: GENERAL PROCESS: Customer has issue - call vendor Help Desk. Vendor Help Desk should address 
issues. Vendor Help Desk assigns ticket number to customer and record on shared data spreadsheet. All following 
requests should be documented by vendor Help Desk. 

40. Will there be an appeal process for these disconnections/terminations? 
GDOE Response: No. GDOE will be willing to address on a case-by-case basis. 
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41. Subsection 2.3.1.1 says no refurbished, used or repaired devices are to be used. Subsection 2.3.7.2 says vendors are 
required to repair or replace faulty devices. Please clarify if repaired devices are acceptable to be used under this 
program. 
GDOE Response: 2.3.1.1 refers to the initial contract and devices must be new.  2.3.7.2 refers to the issued device - 
vendors are required to repair the issued devices. 

42. Will GDOE designate/identify the responsive, responsible head of household for each account that the carrier is to deal 
with? 
GDOE Response: GDOE will identify the student.  Upon initiation, the parent/guardians may choose the responsible 
head of household. 

43. How will GDOE address accounts where students that have dual/multiple custody arrangements and parents/guardians 
live in different regions; and the parent/guardian with the online access device does not allow the student to take the 
device with them during the other parent’s/guardian’s custodial time? 
GDOE Response: GDOE will address internally. 

44. How will GDOE address accounts where students that have dual/multiple custody arrangements and parents/guardians 
live in different regions, but the online access device does not have coverage in the non-issuing region? 
GDOE Response: GDOE will address internally. 

45. Will this program be accessed by the Pre-Kindergarten programs of the schools that have such programs? 
GDOE Response: Yes. 

46. If a student is homeless, is the carrier obligated to provide an online access device to that student? 
GDOE Response: Yes. 

47. Subsection 2.3.12.1 states, “Vendor(s) must provide reports on data usage/number of devices active and inactive per 
device per month upon request by GDOE”. Please clarify what information is GDOE seeking. Is GDOE seeking the number 
of devices that were issued that did not access the internet during the reporting period? Or is GDOE seeking the number 
of minutes/hours/days the device was inactive during the reporting period? 
GDOE Response: GDOE is seeking the usage per device per month.   

48. Will GDOE issue online access devices to students who are incarcerated, in a healthcare facility or a therapeutic care 
facility? If so, who will be the responsible party identified by GDOE for those facilities? 
GDOE Response: GDOE will address internally. 

49. GDOE states the purpose of this Indefinite Quantity Bid (IQB) requires mobile/portable online continuous internet access 
for all of Guam’s students to include public, private, non-public schools and charter schools based on their needs to 
access education sites approved by GDOE. During the pre-bid, GDOE stated that devices powered by household electricity 
to operate are eligible devices. Please clarify this conflict as household electricity powered devices are not necessarily 
considered mobile/portable devices. 
GDOE Response: If the device can be easily carried by one person to be used in different locations, then it will be 
considered as portable. 

Docomo Pacific Inc. 
50. 2.3.2.3:  Vendors may bid and be awarded for more than one region. Question: Please confirm what will determine what 

vendors are awarded by regions? 
GDOE Response: Award will be made to the lowest, most responsive and responsible bidder of each region. Please 
refer to Section 3.1.3 and Section 3.2.1 of the IFB.  

51. 2.3.3.1: Internet access must be active within two (2) weeks of notice to proceed from GDOE. Questions: Due to the large 
number of devices that the bid calls for, would Vendor be allotted time to order and bring in the devices? It is possible 
that our vendors in the supply chain will also require additional time to deliver, this can range anywhere from 6‐8 weeks 
depending. 
GDOE Response: Due to the urgent need, the quantity listed below must be activated within two (2) weeks.  
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Region Quantity 

KATTAN 534 

HAYA 180 

LUCHAN 165 

LAGU 121 

The remaining minimum quantity orders shall be made available to GDOE for activation within 30 calendar days. 
Devices will only be considered an active account and billable upon an approved household's completed sign-up with 
vendor and NOT prior. Should delays occur during the term of the contract, a written request for extension must be 
provided with a justification. It is at GDOE's discretion to approve or deny the request. 

52. 2.3.4: Whitelist‐ Attachment B must be exempt from monthly data. Question: Please clarify that the sites list must not 
be part of the total monthly GB allocated per device per month. 
GDOE Response: Yes.  Please see Section 2.3.4.1. 

53. 2.3.9.1: GDOE will inform vendors of approved household subscriptions through an established listing. Question: Please 
advise what would be the process for each student that is eligible? Will GDOE issue a voucher or will GDOE activate the 
device and assign accordingly. 
GDOE Response: Generally: GDOE will provide vendor’s an approved listing to include PATH ID numbers. GDOE 
parents/guardians will provide PATH ID numbers at the vendor site to initiate and begin online access. GDOE is willing 
to work alongside vendors to improve this process. 

54. Question: Who will the billing go to? GDOE or the student? 
GDOE Response: GDOE. 

55. 3.2.8: Delivery of Good‐ Bidders who are awarded this solicitation guarantees that goods will be delivered or required 
services performed within the time specified. GDOE will issue a notice to Proceed (NTP) and /or Purchase Order prior to 
commencement of the order. Devices must be delivered and activated within two (2) weeks after receipt of Purchase 
Order. Question: When does GDOE plan to make award? 
GDOE Response: Award will be made once the review and evaluation of all submissions are completed. This can range 
from two weeks to one month after bid submission and may be dependent on other unforeseen factors. 

56. Does GDOE plan to test the devices prior to any award is made? 
GDOE Response: No. Devices are expected to be tested by the customer at initiation of service. 

57. If a student is issued a device and after just a few months decides they will no longer require the service and return the 
device. May the vendor reissue the MiFi to another student? 
GDOE Response: No. 

58. Who will be liable for any loss, damage, or stolen devices? GDOE or the student? 
GDOE Response: The student/parent.  GDOE reserves the right to address this on a case-by-case basis. 

59. Will Vendor be allowed to substitute a device other than a MiFi? a. If the Alternate device requires power, although still 
mobile will this be an acceptable device? 
GDOE Response: GDOE requires devices to be portable. 

60. Please confirm services will remain on even through the summer. 
GDOE Response: Yes. 

61. Please confirm the total bid amount that the vendor will submit will be based on total units for all regions. 
GDOE Response: Please refer to Section 3.1.3 of the IFB. Bidder is not required to bid on all regions. 
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www.gdoe.net
501 Mariner Avenue 
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CARMEN T. CHARFAUROS 
Supply Management Administrator 

IFB 017-2021 Indefinite Quantity Bid for Internet Access Devices “Providing Access to Homes” – PATH Program 
Pre-Bid Conference 

Friday, January 27, 2021, 10:30 AM CHST 

SUMMARY 
I. Sign- In and Introduction 

II. House Rules 
A. Pre-Bid Conference will be recorded and included in the Procurement File. 
B. Prospective Bidders must sign in on the zoom chat and provide the following information: Company Name, Individual’s 

Name, email address.  
C. Please keep yourself on mute during the meeting unless you would like to ask a question. 

III. Reminders 
A. Questions During Pre-Bid Conference 

1. GDOE may provide verbal answers to verbal question from potential bidders during the pre-bid conference, however, 
verbal answers will not be considered as an official GDOE response.

2. All questions must be submitted in writing in accordance to page 9 of the IFB, Section 3.1.15 – PRE-BID WRITTEN 
QUESTIONS no later than Friday, February 5, 2021 at 3:00 PM.

3. All written questions must be directed to Kathrina Bayson via email at kobayson@gdoe.net, in accordance to page 7 of 
the IFB, Section 3.1.1 – COMMUNICATION REGARDING THE IFB.

4. GDOE will respond to questions no later than Wednesday, February 10, 2021 at 5:00 PM. Response to written questions 
will be provided via Amendment to all Prospective Bidders. 

B. Deadline for Submission  
1. Deadline for Submission will be on Monday, February 22, 2021 at 2:00 PM. Bids must be submitted before the deadline 

at the GDOE Supply Management Office (Refer to Page 7 of the IFB, Section 3.1.5 – TIME AND DATE FOR RECEIPT OF BIDS 
for additional submission guidelines).  

2. Bid Opening will be held on the same day, Monday, February 22, 2021 at 2:30 PM via Video Conference as specified on 
page 8 of the IFB, Section 3.1.6 – RECEIPT AND OPENING OF BIDS. 

C. Required Forms 
1. Bidders must submit with their bid, the forms listed on page 16 of the IFB, Section 5 – FORMS REQUIRED IN RESPONSE 

TO IFB. 
2. Bid submittals must also include Bid Form included with the IFB as specified on page 8, Section 3.1.7 – BID SUBMISSION 

FORM. 

IV. Project Description / Scope of Work 
A. Coverage / Regions 
B. Installation Requirements 
C. Whitelisting 
D. Blocked Sites 
E. Approved Subscriber 
F. Reporting 

V. Conclusion 
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AMENDED BID FORM
Amendment No. 3

IFB 017-2021 Indefinite Quantity Bid for Internet Access Devices "Providing Access to Homes" - PATH PROGRAM

DESCRIPTION

Internet Access - Providing Access To 

Homes Program (PATH)

(A)

Minimum 

Quantity of 

Devices 

(B) 

Monthly 

Price Per Device

(C)

Total Monthly 

Price

(Column A x Column B 

= Column C)

(D)

NRC

One-Time 

Charge Per 

Installation 

and Other 

charges

LAGU (Northern) 1500  $ $ $

LUCHAN (Central 1) 500  $ $ $

KATTAN (Central 2) 1000  $ $ $

HAYA (Southern) 650  $ $ $

*The Price Evaluation will be based on the TOTAL PRICE for the one-time charge for installation and the total monthly cost for the Internet Access per region

* Minimum quantities specified on Column A will be purchased incrementally throughout the duration of the award.

$

$

BIDDER REPRESENTATION

Company Name Date

Print Name of Authorized Representative Signature of Authorized Representative

(     )  MARK IF YOU ARE CLAIMING STATUS AS A SERVICE-DISABLED VETERAN OWNED BUSINESS UNDER 5 GCA § 5012

(IF ANY ALTERATIONS ARE DONE TO THIS BID COST FORM, GDOE WILL FIND Bidder NON-RESPONSIVE)

$

MISCELLANEOUS 
Equipment Replacement

SIM Card Replacement

By signing below, I represent that I am an authorized representative and I certify that the information provide on this Bid Form is true and correct. 

And by submission of this bid the company is making an offer to provide the services and products described in GDOE IFB 017-2021.  I also confirm 

that the bid price shall remain firm and irrevocable for ninety (90) days, and if awarded, for the term of the award. 

The Guam Department of Education (GDOE) requires online continuous internet for the students to access education sites approved by GDOE. This internet access 

shall be regulated to allow students the ability to access approved distance learning applications, platforms and/or websites.

(E)

TOTAL PRICE 

For Price Evaluation

( Column C + Column D = Column E )

$

$

$


